

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

# This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search http://ageconsearch.umn.edu aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.



Number

133

Nicolas Gerber

Measuring Biodiversity – an axiomatic evaluation of measures based on genetic data

ZEF – Discussion Papers on Development Policy Bonn, June 2009 The CENTER FOR DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH (ZEF) was established in 1995 as an international, interdisciplinary research institute at the University of Bonn. Research and teaching at ZEF aims to contribute to resolving political, economic and ecological development problems. ZEF closely cooperates with national and international partners in research and development organizations. For information, see: http://www.zef.de.

**ZEF – DISCUSSION PAPERS ON DEVELOPMENT POLICY** are intended to stimulate discussion among researchers, practitioners and policy makers on current and emerging development issues. Each paper has been exposed to an internal discussion within the Center for Development Research (ZEF) and an external review. The papers mostly reflect work in progress.

Nicolas Gerber: Measuring Biodiversity – an axiomatic evaluation of measures based on genetic data, ZEF – Discussion Papers On Development Policy No. 133, Center for Development Research, Bonn, June 2009, pp. 26.

ISSN: 1436-9931

Published by: Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF) Center for Development Research Walter-Flex-Strasse 3 D – 53113 Bonn Germany Phone: +49-228-73-1861 Fax: +49-228-73-1869 E-Mail: zef@uni-bonn.de http://www.zef.de

#### The author:

**Nicolas Gerber,** Center for Development Research (ZEF), Bonn, Germany (contact: ngerber@uni-bonn.de).

## Measuring Biodiversity – an axiomatic evaluation of measures based on genetic data

## Contents

Ackno	owledge	ements				
Abstra	act		1			
Kurzf	assung		2			
1	Introduction 3					
	1.1	Biodiversity measurement in the literature	3			
2	2 Review of Existing Diversity Measures					
	2.1	Species evolution and hierarchical trees: overview	5			
	2.2	Weitzman's measure of diversity	6			
	2.3	Alternative biodiversity measures	7			
		2.3.1 A measure of mean diversity	8			
		2.3.2 A measure of diversity preservation	8			
3	New Biodiversity Measures					
	3.1	A measure of biodiversity loss	11			
	3.2	An index of relative diversity	12			
4	Axior	natic Evaluation	14			
	4.1	Axioms	14			
	4.2	Comparing diversity measures	15			
5	Conclusion 1					
References 1						
Apper	Appendix 20					

## List of Figures

Figure 1: The Taxonomic Tree for Higher Primates	6
Figure 2: Tree Representation of VP (1; 3; 6)	9
Figure 3: Tree Representation of VP (4; 5; 6)	10
Figure 4: Tree Representation of VP (1; 2; 3)	10
Figure 5: Tree Representation of VL(1; 3; 6)	12
Figure 6: Tree Representation of VL(4; 5; 6)	12
Figure 7: Tree Representation of VL(1; 2; 3)	13

## List of Tables

Table 1: A Matrix of Measured Genetic Distances	21
Table 2: Weitzman's Measure of Diversity for all Subsets	22
Table 3: The Measure of Diversity Preservation for all Subsets	23
Table 4: The Measure of Diversity Loss for all Subsets	24
Table 5: The Relative Measure of Diversity for all Subsets	25
Table 6: Examples of Biodiversity Rankings	25
Table 7: Axiomatic Comparison of the Diversity Measures	26

## Acknowledgements

The research presented in this paper was part of and conducted during my PhD at UNSW, Sydney, Australia. I am thankful to an anonymous referee of the ZEF Discussion Paper Series for useful comments and suggestions. The usual disclaimer applies.

## Abstract

Biodiversity measurement is necessary to evaluate conservation alternatives and understand how to maximize biodiversity returns on conservation budgets. In the economics literature, most studies focus on species level diversity. Existing measures based on species' pairwise genetic differences do not perform optimally. This paper develops two new biodiversity measures within the same genetic framework. An axiomatic diagnosis for this class of measures is proposed and four biodiversity measures are then compared. Though the axiomatic comparison points towards a single "best" measure, it also indicates that the choice of measure should be dependent on the conservation problem at hand.

1

## Kurzfassung

Biodiversitätsmessung ist notwendig, um alternative Naturschutzstrategien zu bewerten und zu verstehen, auf welche Weise der Beitrag der Biodiversität zum Naturschutz maximiert werden kann. In der Literatur stellen die meisten Berechnungen auf die Ebene der Artendiversität ab, erbringen aber keine optimalen Ergebnisse. Diese Studie entwickelt zwei neue Biodiversitätsmaße innerhalb des gleichen genetischen Rahmens. Sie schlägt eine axiomatische Charakterisierung für diese Gruppe von Maßen vor und vergleicht dann vier Biodiversitätsmaße. Auch wenn der axiomatische Vergleich auf eine einzige "beste" Maßeinheit hinweist, deutet er auch darauf hin, dass die Wahl des Maßes von der gegebenen Problematik abhängen sollte.

#### **1** Introduction

A foundation to the management of biodiversity, or any other resource, is the development of measures that can be related to its value, be it economic or ecological. Measuring the level of biodiversity is necessary to evaluate alternatives and to understand how to maximize the benefits derived from the use of the (different levels of) the resource.

There have been a few attempts to measure biodiversity, as presented later in this introduction. Yet there are issues, theoretical and computational, with each of the measures offered, as discussed throughout this paper. As a result the measures have not yet been applied in environmental conservation policies. New alternative measures are proposed, in response to some of the issues faced by existing measures. All measures are compared using an axiomatic approach, based on axioms derived from the literature and further axioms developed in this paper.

The remainder of the introduction reviews the literature on biodiversity measurement. The rest of the paper is divided into five more sections. The next section presents specific measures of biodiversity based on genetic distances. Section 3 introduces two new measures of biodiversity, based on genetic dissimilarities, with new properties. A list of axioms is developed and used to compare the diversity measures in Section 4. Finally, Section 5 concludes.

#### **1.1 Biodiversity measurement in the literature**

Pearce et al. [17] list three fundamental levels of biological diversity: genetic diversity, species diversity and ecosystem diversity. Genetic diversity refers to the amount of genetic information contained in individual living organisms. Species diversity refers either to the number of species within a certain system or to the dissimilarities between these species, the former is sometimes referred to as species richness. The first framework of diversity measure can be traced back to Shannon et al. [22] who built a diversity index based on species richness. More recent studies using species richness as diversity measures include Scott et al. [21], Eiswerth et al. [7] and Li et al. [13]. Ecosystem diversity refers to the variety of habitats, communities or ecological processes on earth.

The choice of the appropriate level of the analysis is itself matter for debate. Many economic studies focus on the species level, possibly because species have direct values to human consumption.<sup>1</sup> On the other hand, ecosystem processes are not well understood yet, and hence ecosystem diversity can be difficult to define and measure; genetic diversity is also mostly inappropriate for economic studies, as the value of specific genes for human consumption is hardly identifiable (though this is changing with genetically modified agricultural crops).

A prominent diversity measure comes from the work of Weitzman [27],[28],[29]. Weitzman [27] derived the measure of diversity of a set of species from a matrix of genetic distances between each pair of species included in the set. This framework of (genetic) dissimilarity-based diversity measure, Weitzman [27] argues, allows to derive the intrinsic value of diversity. Other early papers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Examples of diversity studies focusing, explicitly or not, on species diversity include: Brock et al. [1], Drucker [5], Eiswerth et al. [7], Li et al. [13], Nehring et al. [15], [16], Rowthorn et al. [20], Solow et al. [23] and Weitzman [27].

referring to genetic dissimilarities as measures of diversity include Eiswerth et al. [6] and Solow et al. [23].

Diverging slightly from genetic diversity, Nehring et al. [15],[16] list another type of specieslevel diversity: phylogenetic diversity, which studies the evolutionary relatedness between organisms. Phylogenetic traits are readily observed and measured and their utility as attributes is either obvious or straightforward to infer. Nonetheless, their genetic basis can be difficult to assess and comparing qualitatively different attributes can prove difficult. However, Nehring et al. [15] successfully derive a measure of species diversity based on the number and relative importance of species' attributes, also with the intention to capture the intrinsic diversity value.

There are merits to both the genetic distance-based and the attributes-based species diversity platforms. A major difference lies in the assumptions of the two frameworks about the relationship between time and evolution. The metrics of the genetic distances approximate the evolutionary process, implicitly assuming evolutionary waves of constant frequency and magnitude. On the contrary, a measure of diversity focusing on the effects of such evolutionary waves (phylogenetic diversity) has the advantage to be independent of any reference to the timing of those waves, only to their sequence. See for instance Massart [14] for a textbook on chemometrics. Goodman et al. [10] compare morphological studies and DNA experimentation for the taxonomy of primates.<sup>2</sup>

It is not the purpose of this paper to argue in favor of or against either of the phylogenetic or genetic distance diversity platform. It focuses on the genetic diversity framework used in Weitzman ([27],[28],[29]) and others (e.g. Solow et al. [23]), the principal appeal of it being the clarity of the matrix of dissimilarity metrics, which is presented in the next section. New biodiversity measures are presented, within this framework, and are assessed relatively to existing measures using an axiomatic approach.

It must be noted that a problem remains with the genetic (and the phylogenetic) diversity approach: the marginal diversity impact of an extra member of a species already included in the set is nil. However, a group of many individuals of the same species can perform tasks that could not be undertaken by two members of different species. This establishes the importance of the concept of functional diversity<sup>3</sup> and the crucial relation between such functionality and the species populations. These links can be examined through the species' interactions within an ecosystem. How to link these interactions to biodiversity measures, other than by using exogenously derived survival probabilities as in Weitzman [28], is out of the scope of this paper.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note that the taxonomy derived from the DNA experimentation is generally accepted nowadays and is used in the following chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Perry [18], in an unpublished work, attempts to model species functional diversity. Fromm [8] and Weikard [26] also discuss and use functional diversity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>For instance, van der Heide et al. [24] have developed dependent (endogenous) survival probabilities in their ranking of conservation priorities. Gerber [9], in Chapters 4 and 5, hints towards the combination of a diversity matrix and a matrix of interaction coefficients between species.

#### 2 Review of Existing Diversity Measures

Species-level diversity reflects differences among species. It is thus necessary to understand how species vary in order to understand biodiversity and to measure it at species level.

#### 2.1 Species evolution and hierarchical trees: overview

Scientists have organized all identified living organisms according to categories, called *taxa*. Starting from the broader of these categories and moving down the ladder to its lowest rung, a summarized list of *taxa* can be described as:

#### Kingdom, Phylum, Class, Order, Family, Genus, Species

There are more categories within the ones described here, but these are the general taxons.<sup>5</sup>

In this paper, the focus is on measures of biodiversity described as the species level genetic diversity. The genetic distinctiveness between species is measured by the genetic "distance" between each pair of species included in the total set of species considered (i.e. within the ecosystem, or any other geographical or ecological division). Matrices of pairwise genetic distances are produced by DNA-DNA hybridization experiments.<sup>6</sup>

The dissimilarity measures obtained through such experiments provide excellent information about DNA evolution and can be used as approximations to the distances (or time, in terms of evolution) back to the last common knot (i.e. ancestor) that two species shared on the evolutionary tree (Degens et al. [3]).

An example of partial evolutionary tree (also called dendrogram) is given in Figure 1<sup>7</sup>. The distances represented by its branches (though not exactly to scale here) are called ultrametrics and fulfill specific properties (see Degens et al. [3] and Weitzman [27],[28]). These ultrametrics are computed from the raw distance data obtained through the DNA experiments. The raw data used in Weitzman [27] is presented in Table 1 (Appendix).

Other representations that can be constructed from a set of non-ultrametric distances include additive trees and minimum spanning trees (MST). It can be shown that additive trees and minimum spanning trees are actually generalizations of the ultrametrics based dendrograms (see Degens et al. [3]). Given that the raw data is unlikely to be ultrametric, it seems reasonable to focus on other forms of representations than the dendrogram. However, Degens et al. [3] give a list of arguments in favour of the ultrametrics based dendrogram, including the fact that the true phylogenetic history is ultrametric in real time, that the true phylogeny has a root (which does not exist on an additive tree or an MST), as well as further computational problems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For the taxonomy of all living organisms, together with the extinct branches of the evolutionary tree, the reader can refer to the following website: http://tolweb.org/tree/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Details on experimental procedures can be found in Weitzman [28] for a summary, Krajewski [12] and Caccone et al. [2] for complete descriptions. Wu et al. [30] discuss normalisation techniques that can decrease the variance of the results of hybridization experiments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This represents the commonly agreed taxonomy of higher order primates.



Figure 1: The Taxonomic Tree for Higher Primates

Yet, as the transformation into ultrametrics requires further estimations and statistical errors, the focus in this paper, as in Weitzman [27], is on diversity measures based on raw data of genetic distances.<sup>8</sup>

#### 2.2 Weitzman's measure of diversity

The Weitzman model can be presented as follows. Using Weitzman's [27] notation, let Q be the set of species considered and V(Q) represent the diversity measure of the set Q. Also define  $Q \setminus i$  as the set Q without species i and d(i, j) as the distance between species i and j. The distance measure between two species has to satisfy three basic conditions:<sup>9</sup>

(i) 
$$d(i,i) = 0$$
, (ii)  $d(i,j) \ge 0$ , (iii)  $d(i,j) = d(j,i)$ . (1)

It is then necessary to define the distance between one particular species and a given set of species. Weitzman uses the following definition:

$$d(i, Q \setminus i) = \min_{i \in Q \setminus i} d(i, j).$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

This definition ensures that the distance between one species and a set of species is zero if and only if that species is already contained in the set. As Solow et al. [23] point out, other definitions of d(i, j) could fulfil this requirement, but this definition seems to be the most appropriate. It

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In Degens et al. [3], keen readers can find descriptions of the different estimation techniques to construct complete taxonomies when they are missing values in the matrix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Neither condition (i) nor condition (iii) are obvious from the experimentations, as reported in Caccone et al. [2].

further ensures that if a new species enters the set, its incremental contribution to the diversity of the set is equal to its genetic distance with its closest relative within the set.

Weitzman [27] sets that the diversity measure V(Q) of a set of species Q must satisfy the fundamental condition:

$$V(Q) = V(Q \setminus i) + d(i, Q \setminus i), \qquad \forall i \in Q.$$
(3)

Then the definition of a species' incremental diversity contribution must hold for all species in the set, in other words the dendrogram it represents is "stable". The problem is that the only diversity measure which fulfils Equation 3 for all  $i \in Q$  is V(Q) in the particular case of ultrametric distances. A sketch of the proof of this result is presented in Weitzman [27].

The major difficulty with raw (i.e. non-ultrametric) distance data is that the diversity measure V(Q) will be dependent on the order in which the species are included in the set.<sup>10</sup> Weitzman's [27] solution is then a diversity measure of the set Q, denoted hereafter  $V_W(Q)$ , which is derived from the following minimization problem:

$$\min V(Q)$$
  
S.T.:  $V(Q) \ge V(Q \setminus i) + d(i, Q \setminus i)$ 

for which he shows that the solution is:

$$V_W(Q) = \max_{i \in Q} \left[ V_W(Q \setminus i) + d(i, Q \setminus i) \right].$$
(4)

The solution is unique when  $V(i) \equiv d_0$ ,  $\forall i \ (d_0 \text{ can be zero or any other constant})$ . Assuming that  $d_0 = 0$ , the results are shown in Table 2 in the Appendix (note that  $V_W(1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6) = 1424$ ) for the six species of Table 1 (Appendix).

A major problem with Weitzman's algorithm is that it is not stable in the event of species extinction. If a species disappears, the impact on the diversity value of the remaining set is not simply to deduct its branch length from the original diversity value. Further, the associated structure might change as a result of extinction, which is not the case with the true evolutionary tree. This problem will be discussed again in a later section comparing the diversity measures. It is a major fault but Weitzman [27] shows that it cannot be overcome. He also shows that no other algorithm can better ensure than the recursive programming of Equation 4 that, in the absence of ultrametrics, the condition of Equation 3 is satisfied as closely as possible in all cases.

#### 2.3 Alternative biodiversity measures

There have been a few attempts at alternative measures to Weitzman's. Two of these are of particular interest to this paper. The mean diversity measure (Hill [11]) is an average function of Weitzman's measure, whilst the measure of diversity preservation (Solow et al. [23]) focuses on the biodiversity loss of an existing set of species when compared with the initial set.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>If Equation 3 is then not fulfilled for all  $i \in Q$ , it is possible (in fact in almost all cases) to observe cases where, with  $i, j \in Q$ ,  $V(Q) = V(Q \setminus i) + d(i, Q \setminus i) \neq V(Q \setminus j) + d(j, Q \setminus j) = V(Q)$ .

#### 2.3.1 A measure of mean diversity

Hill [11], in an unpublished paper, points out that  $V_W(Q)$  systematically overestimates the diversity of a set (due to the max function), unless the distances are ultrametric (in which case the bias is zero). On the other hand, a measure of mean diversity (MD) on a set of n species, defined as

$$V_{MD}(Q) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ V_{MD}(Q \setminus i) + d(i, Q \setminus i) \right],$$
(5)

does not suffer from any systematic bias. The mean diversity value of the full set is  $V_{MD}(1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6) =$  1339 for the distances of Table 1 (Appendix). Hill [11] proposes two criteria to measure the divergence from the condition of Equation 3. The first measures the systematic bias, while the second measures "...the dispersion of changes in biodiversity relative to the changes predicted by [...]" Equation 3. These two measures of bias and dispersion are called  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  and are defined as:

$$S_{1} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ V(Q) - V(Q \setminus i) - d(i, Q \setminus i) \right]$$
$$S_{2} = \frac{1}{n} \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ V(Q) - V(Q \setminus i) - d(i, Q \setminus i) \right]^{2}}.$$

By definition,  $V_{MD}(Q)$  does not suffer from any systematic bias and thus  $S_1(V_{MD}) = 0$  for all Q. For  $Q = \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}$ ,  $S_1(V_W) = 19.17$ ,  $S_2(V_{MD}) = 7.92$  and  $S_2(V_W) = 10.10$ . Both the measure of bias and the measure of dispersion suggest that the mean diversity measure performs better than Equation 4.  $V_{MD}(Q)$  will be further tested by the axiomatic approach later on.

#### 2.3.2 A measure of diversity preservation

In an early article contemporaneous to Weitzman's [27], Solow et al. [23] derived another measure of diversity, using a matrix of genetic distances similar to that used in Weitzman [28]. Starting with the same conditions defined in Equations 1 and 2, their measure of diversity reflects the willingness to preserve a set of species as representative as possible of the reference set. Following Solow et al. [23], the measure of diversity preservation  $V_P(Q)$  is:

$$V_P(Q) = -\sum_{k \in E} d(k, Q), \tag{6}$$

with Q the set of existing species and E the set of extinct species,<sup>11</sup> so that  $(Q \cap E) = \emptyset$ . This diversity measure is defined on the distances between the extinct species (i.e. k) and the set of preserved species, d(k, Q). The optimal conservation outcome maximizes  $V_P(Q)$ , with a maximum possible value of zero. By convention, the authors defined that  $V_P(Q) = -[n(\max d(k, E \setminus k))]$  when all species disappeared ( $Q = \emptyset$ ), with n the total number of species.

As explained earlier, only ultrametric distances can describe the whole evolutionary tree. Weitzman [27] considers his measure  $V_W(Q)$  as the best approximation to measuring the length of the tree formed by the set Q, albeit with a systematic positive bias when applied to non-ultrametric

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>These definitions of the sets Q and E will be valid throughout the remainder of the paper.

distances. If the distances are ultrametric, then the total length of the branches snapped off the tree because of extinction can be measured exactly as  $V_W(Q \cup E) - V_W(Q)$ . The Solow et al. [23] preservation measure is an approximation to the latter difference, based on the set of measured distances (Table 1, Appendix). However, unlike Weitzman [27], the authors do not offer justifications for their choice of preservation measure,  $V_P(Q)$ , or a diagnosis of its performance. I provide below a few illustrations of the shortcomings of  $V_P(Q)$ , with further diagnosis offered later in the axiomatic approach.

In Table 3 (Appendix), I present the preservation measure for all the possible subsets drawn from Table 1 (Appendix).  $V_P(Q)$  is easily calculated. However, Table 3 (Appendix) reveals some striking facts. Firstly,  $V_P(Q)$  cannot differentiate between the diversity benefits of preserving species *i* or *j* when  $d(i, j) = \min d(i, Q \setminus i) = \min d(j, Q \setminus j)$ , e.g. between species 5 and 6. Secondly,  $V_P(Q)$  overestimates the biodiversity loss if  $d(k, Q) > d(k, E \setminus k)$ . For instance,  $V_P(1, 2, 3, 4) = -896$  but  $V_P(1, 2, 3, 4, 5)$  is only -126 and the difference would clearly overestimate the diversity input of species 5 into the set. This situation arises because  $V_P(Q)$  ignores the diversity among the extinct species and focuses entirely on their respective distance to the set Q.

The taxonomic tree representation of species 1 to 6 can help illustrate the shortcomings of  $V_P(Q)$ . Abstraction made of the actual length of its branches, the preservation measure can be visualized as approximating the branch lengths of all the extinct species as they are added back onto the tree. In some cases  $V_P(Q)$  does exactly that. In other cases,  $V_P(Q)$  is unable to account for some segments of the tree and double-counts others. Illustrations are provided below. The full lines in Figures 2 to 4 indicate the species that are preserved, the thin lines define branch segments rightfully included in  $V_P(Q)$ , the dashed lines signal the extinct branches which are not accounted for by  $V_P(Q)$  and the multiple lines illustrate segments which are accounted for more than once by  $V_P(Q)$ .<sup>12</sup>



Figure 2: Tree Representation of  $V_P(1, 3, 6)$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>This is an illustration only and the distances used in  $V_P(Q)$  are not equivalent to the ultrametrics of the tree presented earlier. Rather,  $V_P(Q)$  is based on the distances d(k, Q), which are all minimum distances.



Figure 3: Tree Representation of  $V_P(4, 5, 6)$ 



Figure 4: Tree Representation of  $V_P(1, 2, 3)$ 

The lesson from the three figures is that the identification of the structure of the group of extinct species E is crucial, though ignored by  $V_P(Q)$ . Figures 2 to 4 illustrate the three critical cases encountered when "re-creating" the evolutionary tree: the extinct set includes all the species from either of the two clades resulting from the first node (Figure 4), the extinct set contains all the species of a terminal multi-species clade (Figure 3), or neither of these two cases (Figure 2). In the latter case, all branches are accounted for,  $V_P(1, 3, 6)$  can be considered a good approximation of the actual loss of diversity incurred when species 2, 4 and 6 disappear.  $V_P(4, 5, 6)$  on the other hand overestimates the loss of genetic diversity, as Figure 3 shows.  $V_P(1, 2, 3)$  overestimates the diversity loss, but the accuracy of the estimated loss depends on the relative lengths of the dashed and double lines (Figure 4). This last case is in a sense the worst scenario, as the sign of the bias of  $V_P(1, 2, 3)$  is not known *a priori*.

#### **3** New Biodiversity Measures

Drawing on the lessons of the previous section, I develop here a new measure of the diversity loss and an index of relative diversity.

#### 3.1 A measure of biodiversity loss

The measure of diversity loss, which I name  $V_L(Q)$ , should approximate as precisely as possible the actual loss of biodiversity incurred when (groups of) species cannot be preserved. The intuition behind measuring diversity loss is that the distances forming  $V_L(Q)$  should, when "added back" onto the incomplete tree, recreate the original taxonomy as closely as possible.

Since  $V_W(Q \cup E) - V_W(E) \neq V_W(Q)$ , it is impractical to use  $V_W(E)$  to measure the biodiversity loss. The inequality is partly due to the fact that  $V_W(E)$  would only account for the distances within the set of extinct species, without considering the distances between the species of E and the species of Q. Furthermore,  $V_W(E)$  can either over- or underestimate the biodiversity loss, depending on the extinct species.

No specific formula for  $V_L(Q)$  could be found to fully satisfy the three general cases mentioned in Section 2.3.2; nonetheless, one of them performed well. The following formula for  $V_L(Q)$  leads to the same result as  $V_P(Q)$  in cases similar to Figure 2. In the other configurations,  $V_L(Q)$  has a strictly negative bias and can thus serve as a lower bound for biodiversity loss. The formula is as follows:

$$V_L(Q) = -\max d(k, Q \cup E \setminus k) + V_L(Q \cup k).$$
(7)

Equation 7 is a recursion, operating similarly to Equation 4.<sup>13</sup> At each stage of the recursion, one branch is added back onto the tree and that species leaves the set E and joins the set Q. The process is over when all the species of E have been added back into Q. If at one stage of the recursion, two species both share the maximum distances as defined above, then either one of the two species can be chosen, without affecting the final result. By definition if  $E = \emptyset$ , then  $V_L(Q) = 0$  and if  $E = \{k\}$ , then the formula simplifies to  $V_L(Q) = d(k, Q \cup E \setminus k)$ .

Figures 5 to 7 illustrate the fit of  $V_L(Q)$ : none of the distances are double-counted and  $V_L(Q)$  offers the certainty that it either accurately represents the loss of diversity or that it can serve as its minimum bound.

Moreover, neither  $V_P(Q)$  nor  $V_L(Q)$  can be justified on the grounds of their absolute deviation from the actual total length of lost branches. For instance, in Figures 3 and 6, the overestimation of the diversity loss from  $V_P(4, 5, 6)$  is clearly larger than the underestimation resulting from  $V_L(4, 5, 6)$ . Conversely, Figures 4 and 7 show that the overestimation of  $V_P(1, 2, 3)$ is smaller than the underestimation of  $V_L(1, 2, 3)$ . Both results are independent of the relative lengths of the branches. Table 4 (Appendix) presents a complete account of  $V_L(Q)$  for all subsets of [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6].<sup>14</sup>

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$ The computational requirements necessary for the calculation of Equation 7 should be lower than for Equation 4, as the max function is not applied directly to the recursive term.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>As there is no uncertainty about the nature of the misrepresentation in Equation 7, my intuition has been that it



Figure 5: Tree Representation of  $V_L(1,3,6)$ 



Figure 6: Tree Representation of  $V_L(4, 5, 6)$ 

#### 3.2 An index of relative diversity

The different measures of diversity and diversity loss presented above cannot be compared if the units in which they are provided are not the same or cannot be derived from each other. Genetic distances can be measured in different units, even from similar procedures, and can be derived from different experimentations. Furthermore, in a situation where species get extinct and others can be re-introduced within an ecosystem,<sup>15</sup> it might be useful to consider a measure of diversity comparing the new level of diversity to a baseline level. Such a measure could also be applied to

should be possible to modify it in order to account for some of the missing links. I believe that the misrepresentations occur because of the inability of Equation 7 to recreate the entire structure of the tree when the set E contains all the species of either one of the terminal clades (i.e. [1, 2] and [5, 6] in this example). In such cases, Equation 7 fails to account for the linking segments between any extinct clade (terminal or not) and both the previous and the next node on the tree. A plethora of alternative formulas were tested, but at this stage my conclusion is that there potentially exists no universal formula deriving a tighter lower bound for the actual diversity loss.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Re-introductions of extinct species have recently become quite common in some places, although yet mostly restricted to emblematic species, such as bears and wolves in western Europe.

#### Measuring Biodiversity - an axiomatic evaluation of measures based on genetic data



Figure 7: Tree Representation of  $V_L(1, 2, 3)$ 

compare how pristine two ecosystems with very different levels of biodiversity are, by computing the current level of diversity as a ratio of the initial level of diversity. The following index of relative diversity can do that:

$$V_R(Q) = \frac{\max\left[V_W(Q\backslash i) + d(i, Q\backslash i)\right]}{\max\left[V_W(Q\backslash i) + d(i, Q\backslash i)\right] + \left(\max d(k, Q \cup E\backslash k) - V_L(Q \cup k)\right)}.$$
(8)

Again, Q is defined as the existing set of species and E is defined as the set of extinct species.<sup>16</sup> If the set of extinct species is an empty set,  $V_R(Q)$  is equal to one. Conservation would then aim at keeping  $V_R(Q)$  as close as possible to one. Note that in fact:

$$V_R(Q) = \frac{V_W(Q)}{V_W(Q) - V_L(Q)}.$$
(9)

Table 5 (Appendix) gives the values of  $V_R(Q)$  for all subsets of [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6]. Table 6 (Appendix) gives a comparison and ranking of different subsets of size 3 when Equations 4 and 8 are applied on Table 1 (Appendix). The subsets are ranked in increasing order according to their biodiversity value and show substantial differences in the rankings. The choice of measure would then strongly impact on conservation decisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>If species are added to the set Q through re-introduction programs, the above formula can be modified by substituting max  $[V(T \setminus h) + d(h, T \setminus h)]$  as the numerator, with  $T = Q \cup Y$ , Y the set of re-introduced species and  $h \in T$ .

#### 4 Axiomatic Evaluation

This section, first, presents a number of axioms that a measure of diversity should comply with. New axioms are developed, for a tighter evaluation of diversity measures. Secondly, the measures presented earlier are evaluated against all axioms.

#### 4.1 Axioms

Weitzman [27] developed properties with which to evaluate his measure of biodiversity. In this section I extend Weitzman's list by an additional 4 axioms. The axioms that I have added to Weitzman's list of properties are numbered 7, 11, 12 and 13. The formulation of Weitzman's properties, hereafter referred to as axioms, are available in Weitzman [27]; these axioms are only presented shortly here. The new axioms are presented in more detail.

Axiom 1 defines the *monotonicity in species* of the measure, ensuring that diversity increases if a new species is added to the set. Axiom 2 formulates the existence of at least one *link species*, restricting Equation 3 to hold for at least one species instead of all species, a case which was shown to happen only with ultrametric distances. Axiom 3, the *twin property*, states that diversity should not increase if the added species is identical to one of the species already included in the set. Axiom 4 formalizes the *continuity in distances* of the diversity measure. Axiom 5 postulates the *monotonicity in distances* of the diversity value increases if all distances are subjected to the same "augmenting" function). Axiom 6 fixes an *upper bound in the diversity increment caused by adding one species* equal to the maximum distance between the new species and any species already in the set.

**Axiom 7**: *Lower bound in diversity change caused by adding one species* For the lower bound in the increment of V(Q), it must be true that:

$$V(Q \cup j) \ge V(Q) + d(j, Q), \ \forall Q \text{ and } \forall j \notin Q$$

with

$$d(j,Q) \equiv \min_{i \in Q} d(j,i).$$

In other words, the lowest increment in biodiversity when adding a species to the set Q is at least equal to the minimum distance between the added species and the set.

Axiom 8 favours the most distantly related species by stating that if one species of the set is consistently more distant to the rest of the set than another, it should systematically be preserved over the other, ceteris paribus. Axiom 9 defines the *irrelevance of equally distant relatives* and ensures that if one species is equally related to all species, whether this species is present or not does not affect decisions regarding the preservation of any subset of Q. Axiom 10, named *Min*-Loss extinction, ensures that if one species can't be preserved, it should be one of the two species with the smallest pairwise distance.

#### Axiom 11: Consistency in group disaggregation

Consider two groups of species,  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ , each defining their complement  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  such that  $Q_1 \cup E_1 = S = Q_2 \cup E_2$ , with S the total reference catalogue of species. Further,  $Q_1 \cap Q_2 = I$ 

with  $I \neq \emptyset$ . A desirable property is that if

$$V(Q_1) \geqslant V(Q_2)$$

then it should also be true that

 $V(Q_1 \setminus i) \ge V(Q_2 \setminus i)$ 

for all  $i \in I$ . This axiom implicitly links the structure of the set Q to its diversity value. It ensures that a set with one single species dominating its total diversity value cannot exceed in diversity value another set containing the same species but displaying a more "balanced" structure.

Axiom 12: Null diversity of a single species

Diversity is a comparative concept, which can only be assessed by comparing at least two species. The notion of distance is thus appealing to measure how different two items are, while that notion of difference can serve as a measure of diversity. If the set is reduced to a single species, it is hence normal that

$$V(i) = 0 \; \forall i.$$

Even in the case of the rooted tree, it is the diversity within the set that V(Q) measures, not the diversity between Q and other sets.

#### Axiom 13: Homogeneity in distances

Genetic distances are given in many different units. It is thus desirable to have a diversity measure which is unaffected by the choice of the units. Such a measure should therefore be homogenous of degree zero, at the very least of degree one:

$$V(Q_1) = V(Q_2)$$
 where  $d(i, j)$  in  $Q_1 = \lambda d(i, j)$  in  $Q_2, \forall i, j$ ;  
if  $V(Q_1) \neq V(Q_2)$  then it should be true that  $V(Q_1) = \lambda V(Q_2)$ .

#### 4.2 Comparing diversity measures

Weitzman [27] proved that  $V_W(Q)$  complies with Axioms 1 to 6, 8, 9 and 10.  $V_W(Q)$  complies with Axiom 7 by construction and the minimum bound is d(j,Q).  $V_W(Q)$  fails to comply with Axiom 11, for instance:  $V_W(3,5,6) = 658$  is larger then  $V_W(2,3,4) = 591$ , but  $V_W(5,6) = 126$ is less than  $V_W(2,4) = 328$ .  $V_W(Q)$  can comply with Axiom 12 as a matter of definition and it fulfills Axiom 13 because it fulfills Axiom 5.

The proof of the compliance of  $V_P(Q)$  and  $V_L(Q)$  to the different axioms often flows from their construction (i.e. a summation formula rather than a max or min operator as in Weitzman's measure) or can be imputed from Weitzman's results. The behavior of  $V_R(Q)$  can in most cases be inferred from the compliance status of  $V_W(Q)$  and  $V_L(Q)$ . As  $V_{MD}(Q)$  fails to fulfil the Axiom 1, which is also the most fundamental, it is not assessed any further.<sup>17</sup> The performance of the four main diversity measures presented in Sections 2.2, 2.3 and 3 is summarized in Table 7 (Appendix).

The axiomatic approach offers the following insights:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>The proofs for  $V_P(Q)$ ,  $V_L(Q)$  and  $V_R(Q)$  were not included as a matter of space but can be requested by contacting the author. They are often either a matter of definition or can be derived from the proofs presented in Weitzman [27]. The proof of the compliance of  $V_L(Q)$  with the new Axiom 11 is presented in the Appendix.

- Weitzman's measure of diversity  $V_W(Q)$  complies with the most axioms, fulfilling 12 of the 13 axioms;
- however, the index of relative diversity  $V_R(Q)$  offers a good alternative. Its compliance with a less general version of Axiom 5 (monotonicity in distances) can be solved for defined classes of the augmenting function. The only axiomatic "failure" of  $V_R(Q)$  as compared to  $V_W(Q)$  is Axiom 10 (Min-Loss extinction). And finally,
- a dry look at Table 7 (Appendix) is not sufficient to choose between  $V_P(Q)$  and  $V_L(Q)$ . I believe that the measure of biodiversity loss  $V_L(Q)$  offers a better alternative than  $V_P(Q)$ , for the following reasons. Firstly, the compliance to Axiom 6 (upper bound in diversity increase) is more important than Axiom 7 (lower bound on diversity increase) in that it ensures a consistently conservative estimate of the actual biodiversity loss. This synthesizes one of the points raised in Section 3.1. Secondly, both measures fail with respect to Axiom 8 (favour distant species), but both comply to a looser version of the axiom. Thirdly, Axiom 10 (Min-Loss extinction) is not necessarily obvious in its application to a measure of biodiversity loss, due to the question of the appropriate set of reference, whereas Axiom 11 can be viewed as one of the most important axioms in a "dynamic" setting where conservation options are not guaranteed to be successful.

Ultimately, the choice between  $V_W(Q)$ ,  $V_R(Q)$  and  $V_L(Q)$  probably should be dictated by the context in which the diversity measure is used. As a first example, I consider two candidate sites for conservation. If the two sites are similar,  $V_W(Q)$  is probably the best measure to rank the sites in terms of biodiversity content. If the two sites are assessed against a reference set of species,  $V_L(Q)$  provides the best alternative in measuring the difference between the existing and the reference sets of species. If the two sites contain vastly different sets of species, a measure of genetic diversity is less appropriate and  $V_R(Q)$  is undoubtedly the best option. The index of relative diversity serves well as an indicator of the "pristine-ness" of the genetic pool: both sites are assessed against their respective initial state, not directly against each other.

For the second example, I consider the case of a set of species whose individual conservation status needs to be assessed, either separately or within a subset of species. The diversity and loss measures are both consistent measures:  $V_W(Q)$  consistently overestimates the diversity value of the preserved set of species, whilst  $V_L(Q)$  consistently underestimates the diversity loss. The choice between the diversity and the loss measure is then simply dictated by the emphasis placed on either evaluating the existing diversity or the loss of diversity. In this example the index of relative diversity is less consistent, given that the bias of its numerator is positive but the bias of its denominator is unknown.

#### 5 Conclusion

This paper presented and developed various techniques to measure biodiversity at the species level from a set of pairwise genetic distances. The four main biodiversity measures were then compared by mean of an axiomatic approach. The axiomatic approach showed the superiority of  $V_W(Q)$ compared to the other three candidates. However, Weitzman's measure is not consistent in the event of species disappearance (because  $V(Q) \neq V(Q \setminus i) + d(i, Q \setminus i)$  for all i) and thus fails with respect to the axiom of consistency in group disaggregation (Axiom 11). When comparing the diversity of two sets, the fact that  $V_W(Q)$  ignores the structure of the sets whose diversity value it is comparing can be a significant drawback. This is especially true if extinction is likely to occur. Only the measure of biodiversity loss  $V_L(Q)$  fulfils this axiom. It seems natural that a measure focusing on the value of the genetic information that has been lost should account for the structure of the preserved set.  $V_L(Q)$  also complies with the most crucial of Weitzman's axioms. Consequently,  $V_L(Q)$  is viewed as a superior measure to its most direct competitor  $V_P(Q)$ , the measure of diversity preservation proposed by Solow et al. [23]. Generally though, all the measures of genetic diversity presented here perform reasonably well and ought to be considered according to their contextual application. Criteria such as the importance placed on a reference set of species, or whether the biodiversity measurement will be used to choose between two conservation projects far apart in terms of the species they target, should play a significant role in the choice of diversity measure.

#### References

- W. A. Brock and A. Xepapadeas, Valuing biodiversity from an economic perspective: a unified economic, ecological, and genetic approach, *American Economic Review* 93(5), 1597-1614 (2003).
- [2] A. Caccone and J. R. Powell, DNA divergence among hominoids, *Evolution* 43(5), 925-942 (1989).
- [3] P. O. Degens, B. Lausen and W. Vach, Reconstruction of phylogenies by distance data: mathematical framework and statistical analysis, in "Trees and Hierarchical Structures" (A. Dress and A. von Haessler eds), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany (1980).
- [4] G. De Soete, A least squares algorithm for fitting an ultrametric tree to a dissimilarity matrix, *Pattern Recognition Letters* **2(3)**, 133-137 (1984).
- [5] A. G. Drucker, V. Gomez and S. Anderson, The economic valuation of farm animal genetic resources: a survey of available methods, *Ecological Economics* **36(1)**, 1-18 (2001).
- [6] M. E. Eiswerth and J. C. Haney, Allocating conservation expenditures: accounting for interspecies genetic distinctiveness, *Ecological Economics* **5(3)**, 235-249 (1992).
- [7] M. E. Eiswerth and J. C. Haney, Maximizing conserved biodiversity: why ecosystem indicators and thresholds matter, *Ecological Economics* **38(2)**, 259-274 (2001).
- [8] O. Fromm, Ecological structure and functions of biodiversity as elements of its total economic value, *Environmental and Resource Economics* **16**, 303-328 (2000).
- [9] N. Gerber, "Biodiversity measurement, species interactions and sustainability", Ph. D. Thesis, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia (2006).
- [10] M. Goodman, C. A. Porter, J. Czelusniak, S. L. Page, H. Schneider, J. Shoshani, G. Gunnel and C. P. Groves, Toward a phylogenetic classification of primates based on DNA evidence complemented by fossil evidence, *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* 9(3), 585-598 (1998).
- [11] R. J. Hill, "Measuring Biological Diversity", unpublished manuscript, UNSW, Sydney, Australia (2001).
- [12] C. Krajewski, Phylogenetic relationships among cranes (*Gruiformes: Gruidae*) based on DNA hybridization, *The Auk* 106(4), 603-618 (1989).
- [13] C.-Z. Li and K.-G. Loefgren, A dynamic model of biodiversity preservation, *Environment and Development Economics* 3(2), 157-172 (1998).
- [14] L. C. Massart, "Chemometrics: a textbook", Elsevier, New York, USA (1988).
- [15] K. Nehring and C. Puppe, A theory of diversity, *Econometrica* 70(3), 1155-1198 (2002).
- [16] K. Nehring and C. Puppe, Modelling phylogenetic diversity, *Resource and Energy Economics* 26(2), 205-235 (2004).
- [17] D. W. Pearce and D. Moran, "The economic value of biodiversity", Earthscan Publications. Ltd., London, UK (1994).
- [18] N. Perry, Functional diversity and the Noah's ark problem, Mimeo (presented at the 2000 PhD Conference in Economics and Business, ANU, Canberra), La Trobe University, Bundoora, Victoria, Australia (2000).

- [19] S. Polasky and A. R. Solow, On the value of a collection of species, *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* **29(3)**, 298-303 (1995).
- [20] B. Rowthorn and G. Brown, When a high discount rate encourages biodiversity, *International Economic Review* **40(2)**, 315-332 (1999).
- [21] J. M. Scott, B. Csuti, J. D. Jacobi and J. E. Estes, Species Richness: a geographic approach to protecting future biological diversity, *BioScience* 37(11), 782-788 (1987).
- [22] C. E. Shannon and W. Weaver, "The mathematical theory of communication", University of Illinois Press, Urbana, Illinois, USA (1949).
- [23] A. Solow, S. Polasky and J. Broadus, On the measurement of biological diversity, *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* **24(1)**, 60-68 (1993).
- [24] C. M. van der Heide, J. C. J. M. van den Bergh and E. C. van Ierland, Extending Weitzman's economic ranking of biodiversity protection: combining ecological and genetic considerations, *Ecological Economics* 55(2), 218-223 (2005).
- [25] R. I. Vane-Wright, C. J. Humphries and P. H. Williams, What to protect? Systematics and the agony of choice, *Biological Conservation* 55, 235-254 (1991).
- [26] H. P. Weikard, Diversity functions and the value of biodiversity, *Land Economics* **78(1)**, 20-27 (2002).
- [27] M. L. Weitzman, On diversity, The Quarterly Journal of Economics 107(2), 363-406 (1992).
- [28] M. L. Weitzman, What to preserve? an application of diversity theory to crane conservation, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* **108(1)**, 158-183 (1993).
- [29] M. L. Weitzman, The Noah's ark problem, *Econometrica* 66(6), 1279-1298 (1998).
- [30] W. Wu, S. E. Wildsmith, A. J. Winkley, R. Yallop, F. J. Elcock and P. J. Bugelski, Chemometrics strategies for normalisation of gene expression data obtained from cDNA microarrays, *Analytica Chimica Acta* 446(1-2), 449-464 (2001).

## Appendix

**Definition.**  $V_L(Q) = -\max d(k, Q \cup E \setminus k) + V_L(Q \cup k)$ , with *E* the set of extinct species, *Q* the set of living species and  $k \in E$ .

Axiom 11. Consider two groups of species  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ , such that  $S-Q_1 = E_1$  and  $S-Q_2 = E_2$ . Further,  $Q_1 \cap Q_2 = \{I\}$ , with  $I \neq \emptyset$ . If

$$V_L(Q_1) \geqslant V_L(Q_2) \tag{A1}$$

then it should also be true that

$$V_L(Q_1 \setminus i) \ge V_L(Q_2 \setminus i),\tag{A2}$$

with  $i \in I$ .

**Proof.** By definition of  $V_L(Q)$ , the impact of a single species on the diversity of the set Q, whether that species is added to or subtracted from the set, is its distance to its nearest relative in the entire catalogue of species  $Q \cup E = S$ . In other words, the impact of a single species (added or subtracted) on the diversity of the set Q is independent of which other species belong to Q or not. Hence,  $\forall i$ 

$$V_L(Q) - V_L(Q \setminus i) = d(i, S \setminus i).$$
(A3)

This is true by extension for  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$ . So, reordering A3 and substituting in A1 we obtain A2.

Note:  $V_L(Q)$  is the only diversity measure presented in this paper for which Equation A3 is true, for all *i*.

### Measuring Biodiversity - an axiomatic evaluation of measures based on genetic data

species	1	2	3	4	5	6	common name
1	0	159	250	349	495	513	human
2	159	0	234	328	448	448	common chimpanzee
3	250	234	0	357	532	498	gorilla
4	349	328	357	0	477	488	orangutan
5	495	448	532	477	0	126	common gibbon
6	513	448	498	488	126	0	siamang gibbon

Table 1: A Matrix of Measured Genetic Dist

Tab	le 2: Weitzman's M	leasure of Diversity for	r all Subsets
2 species	3 species	4 species	5 species
$V_W(1,2)=159$	$V_W(1,2,3)=409$	$V_W(1, 2, 3, 4) = 766$	$V_W(1, 2, 3, 4, 5)=1298$
$V_{W}(1,3)=250$	$V_W(1, 2, 4) = 508$	$V_W(1, 2, 3, 5)=941$	$V_W(1, 2, 3, 4, 6) = 1271$
$V_{W}(1,4)=349$	$V_W(1,2,5)=654$	$V_W(1, 2, 3, 6)=922$	$V_W(1, 2, 3, 5, 6) = 1067$
$V_{W}(1,5)=495$	$V_W(1, 2, 6)=672$	$V_W(1, 2, 4, 5)=1003$	$V_W(1, 2, 4, 5, 6) = 1147$
$V_W(1,6)=513$	$V_W(1,3,4)=607$	$V_W(1, 2, 4, 6) = 1021$	$V_W(1, 3, 4, 5, 6) = 1265$
$V_{W}(2,3)=234$	$V_W(1,3,5)=782$	$V_W(1, 2, 5, 6)=798$	$V_W(2, 3, 4, 5, 6) = 1249$
$V_{W}(2,4)=328$	$V_W(1,3,6)=763$	$V_W(1,3,4,5)=1139$	
$V_{W}(2,5)=448$	$V_W(1,4,5)=844$	$V_W(1,3,4,6)=1112$	
$V_{W}(2,6)=448$	$V_W(1, 4, 6) = 862$	$V_{W}(1, 3, 5, 6)=908$	
$V_W(3,4)=357$	$V_W(1,5,6)=639$	$V_W(1, 4, 5, 6)=988$	
$V_W(3,5)=532$	$V_W(2,3,4)=591$	$V_W(2,3,4,5)=1123$	
$V_W(3,6)=498$	$V_W(2,3,5)=766$	$V_W(2,3,4,6)=1089$	
$V_{W}(4,5)=477$	$V_W(2,3,6)=732$	$V_W(2, 3, 5, 6)=892$	
$V_{W}(4,6)=488$	$V_W(2,4,5)=805$	$V_W(2, 4, 5, 6)=942$	
$V_W(5,6)=126$	$V_W(2,4,6)=816$	$V_W(3, 4, 5, 6) = 1015$	
	$V_W(2,5,6)=574$		
	$V_W(3, 4, 5) = 889$		
	$V_W(3, 4, 6) = 855$		
	$V_W(3,5,6)=658$		
	$V_W(4,5,6)=614$		

Table 2: Weitzman's Measure of Diversity for all Subsets

1 species	2 species	3 species	4 species
$V_P(1)$ =-1766	$V_P(1,2)=-1458$	$V_P(1,2,3)=-1224$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,3,4)=-896
$V_P(2)$ =-1617	$V_P(1,3)=-1501$	$V_P(1,2,4)=-1130$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,3,5)=-454
V <sub>P</sub> (3)=-1871	$V_P(1,4)=-1374$	$V_P(1,2,5)=-688$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,3,6)=-454
V <sub>P</sub> (4)=-1999	V <sub>P</sub> (1,5)=-884	V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,6)=-688	V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,4,5)=-360
V <sub>P</sub> (5)=-2078	V <sub>P</sub> (1,6)=-884	$V_P(1,3,4) = -1124$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,4,6)=-360
V <sub>P</sub> (6)=-2073	$V_P(2,3)=-1383$	$V_P(1,3,5)=-634$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,5,6)=-562
	$V_P(2,4)=-1289$	$V_P(1,3,6)=-634$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,3,4,5)=-285
	V <sub>P</sub> (2,5)=-847	$V_P(1,4,5)=-535$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,3,4,6)=-285
	V <sub>P</sub> (2,6)=-847	V <sub>P</sub> (1,4,6)=-535	V <sub>P</sub> (1,3,5,6)=-508
	$V_P(3,4)=-1449$	V <sub>P</sub> (1,5,6)=-758	V <sub>P</sub> (1,4,5,6)=-409
	V <sub>P</sub> (3,5)=-967	$V_P(2,3,4) = -1055$	V <sub>P</sub> (2,3,4,5)=-285
	V <sub>P</sub> (3,6)=-967	$V_P(2,3,5)=-613$	V <sub>P</sub> (2,3,4,6)=-285
	$V_P(4,5)=-1160$	$V_P(2,3,6)=-613$	V <sub>P</sub> (2,3,5,6)=-487
5 species	$V_P(4,6)=-1160$	$V_P(2,4,5)=-519$	V <sub>P</sub> (2,4,5,6)=-393
V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,3,4,5)=-126	V <sub>P</sub> (5,6)=-1918	V <sub>P</sub> (2,4,6)=-519	V <sub>P</sub> (3,4,5,6)=-484
V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,3,4,6)=-126		V <sub>P</sub> (2,5,6)=-721	
V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,3,5,6)=-328		$V_P(3,4,5)=-610$	
V <sub>P</sub> (1,2,4,5,6)=-234		$V_P(3,4,6)=-610$	
V <sub>P</sub> (1,3,4,5,6)=-159		$V_P(3,5,6)=-841$	
V <sub>P</sub> (2,3,4,5,6)=-159		$V_P(4,5,6) = -1034$	

Table 3: The Measure of Diversity Preservation for all Subsets

1 species	2 species	3 species	4 species		
$V_L(1)=-973$	$V_L(1,2)=-814$	$V_L(1,2,3)=-580$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,3,4)=-252		
V <sub>L</sub> (2)=-973	$V_L(1,3)=-739$	$V_L(1,2,4)=-486$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,3,5)=-454		
$V_L(3) = -898$	$V_L(1,4)=-645$	$V_L(1,2,5)=-688$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,3,6)=-454		
$V_L(4) = -804$	$V_L(1,5)=-847$	$V_L(1,2,6)=-688$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,4,5)=-360		
$V_L(5) = -1006$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,6)=-847	$V_L(1,3,4)=-411$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,4,6)=-360		
$V_L(6) = -1006$	$V_L(2,3)=-739$	$V_L(1,3,5)=-613$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,5,6)=-562		
	$V_L(2,4)=-645$	$V_L(1,3,6)=-613$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,3,4,5)=-285		
	$V_L(2,5) = -847$	$V_L(1,4,5)=-519$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,3,4,6)=-285		
	V <sub>L</sub> (2,6)=-847	V <sub>L</sub> (1,4,6)=-519	V <sub>L</sub> (1,3,5,6)=-487		
	$V_L(3,4)=-570$	V <sub>L</sub> (1,5,6)=-721	V <sub>L</sub> (1,4,5,6)=-393		
	$V_L(3,5)=-772$	$V_L(2,3,4)=-411$	V <sub>L</sub> (2,3,4,5)=-285		
	$V_L(3,6)=-772$	$V_L(2,3,5)=-613$	V <sub>L</sub> (2,3,4,6)=-285		
	$V_L(4,5) = -678$	$V_L(2,3,6)=-613$	V <sub>L</sub> (2,3,5,6)=-487		
5 species	$V_L(4,6) = -678$	$V_L(2,4,5) = -519$	V <sub>L</sub> (2,4,5,6)=-393		
$V_L(1,2,3,4,5) = -126$	$V_L(5,6) = -880$	$V_L(2,4,6)=-519$	V <sub>L</sub> (3,4,5,6)=-318		
V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,3,4,6)=-126		V <sub>L</sub> (2,5,6)=-721			
V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,3,5,6)=-328		$V_L(3,4,5) = -444$			
V <sub>L</sub> (1,2,4,5,6)=-234		$V_L(3,4,6) = -444$			
V <sub>L</sub> (1,3,4,5,6)=-159		$V_L(3,5,6) = -646$			
V <sub>L</sub> (2,3,4,5,6)=-159		$V_L(4,5,6)=-552$			

Table 4: The Measure of Diversity Loss for all Subsets

2 spacias	3 snacios	A spacies	5 spacies
	5 species	+ species	5 species
$V_R(1,2)=0.1634$	$V_R(1,2,3)=0.4160$	$V_R(1,2,3,4)=0.7525$	$V_R(1,2,3,4,5)=0.9115$
$V_{R}(1,3)=0.2528$	$V_R(1,2,4)=0.5111$	$V_R(1,2,3,5)=0.6746$	$V_R(1,2,3,4,6)=0.9098$
$V_{R}(1,4)=0.3511$	$V_{R}(1,2,5)=0.4873$	$V_R(1,2,3,6)=0.6701$	$V_R(1,2,3,5,6)=0.7649$
$V_{R}(1,5)=0.3689$	$V_R(1,2,6)=0.4941$	$V_R(1,2,4,5)=0.7359$	$V_R(1,2,4,5,6)=0.8306$
$V_{R}(1,6)=0.3772$	$V_R(1,3,4)=0.5963$	$V_R(1,2,4,6)=0.7393$	$V_R(1,3,4,5,6)=0.8883$
$V_{R}(2,3)=0.2405$	$V_{R}(1,3,5)=0.5606$	$V_R(1,2,5,6)=0.5868$	$V_R(2,3,4,5,6)=0.8871$
$V_{R}(2,4)=0.3371$	$V_R(1,3,6)=0.5545$	$V_R(1,3,4,5)=0.7999$	
$V_{R}(2,5)=0.3460$	$V_R(1,4,5)=0.6192$	$V_R(1,3,4,6)=0.7960$	
$V_{R}(2,6)=0.3460$	$V_R(1,4,6)=0.6242$	$V_R(1,3,5,6)=0.6509$	
$V_{R}(3,4)=0.3851$	$V_{R}(1,5,6)=0.4670$	$V_R(1,4,5,6)=0.7154$	
$V_{R}(3,5)=0.4080$	$V_{R}(2,3,4)=0.5898$	$V_R(2,3,4,5)=0.7980$	
$V_{R}(3,6)=0.3921$	$V_{R}(2,3,5)=0.5555$	$V_R(2,3,4,6)=0.7929$	
$V_{R}(4,5)=0.4130$	$V_R(2,3,6)=0.5442$	$V_R(2,3,5,6)=0.6470$	
$V_{R}(4,6)=0.4185$	$V_{R}(2,4,5)=0.6080$	$V_R(2,4,5,6)=0.7056$	
$V_{R}(5,6)=0.1553$	$V_R(2,4,6)=0.6112$	$V_R(3,4,5,6)=0.7614$	
	$V_R(2,5,6)=0.4432$		
	$V_R(3,4,5)=0.6669$		
	$V_R(3,4,6)=0.6582$		
	$V_R(3,5,6)=0.5046$		
	$V_R(4,5,6)=0.5267$		

Table 5: The Relative Measure of Diversity for all Subsets

Subset Q	$V_W(Q)$	Rank	$V_R(Q)$	Rank
(1,3,4)	607	16	0.5963	7
(1,4,5)	844	4	0.6192	4
(1,4,6)	862	2	0.6242	3
(2,3,4)	591	17	0.5898	8
(2,4,5)	805	6	0.6080	6
(2,4,6)	816	5	0.6112	5
(3,4,5)	889	1	0.6669	1
(3,4,6)	855	3	0.6582	2

Axioms	$V_W(Q)$	$V_P(Q)$	$V_L(Q)$	$V_R(Q)$
1: monotonicity in species	YES	YES	YES	YES
2: existence of link species	YES	YES	YES	n.a.
<b>3:</b> twin property	YES	YES	YES	YES
<b>4:</b> continuity in distances	YES	YES	YES	YES
<b>5:</b> monotonocity in distances	YES	YES	YES	NO
<b>6:</b> upper bound in species' diversity increase	YES	NO	YES	YES
7: lower bound in species' diversity change	YES	YES	NO	YES
8: favour the most distant species	YES	NO	NO	YES
<b>9:</b> irrelevance of equally distant species	YES	YES	YES	n.a.
<b>10:</b> Min-Loss extinction	YES	YES	NO	NO
<b>11:</b> consistency in group disaggregation	NO	NO	YES	NO
<b>12:</b> null diversity of single species	YES	n.a.	n.a.	YES
<b>13:</b> homogeneity in distances	YES	YES	YES	YES

Table 7: Axiomatic Comparison of the Diversity Measures

n.a. = the axiom does not apply for this measure

## The following papers have been published so far:

No. 1	Ulrike Grote, Arnab Basu, Diana Weinhold	Child Labor and the International Policy Debate Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1998, pp. 47.
No. 2	Patrick Webb, Maria Iskandarani	Water Insecurity and the Poor: Issues and Research Needs Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, Oktober 1998, pp. 66.
No. 3	Matin Qaim, Joachim von Braun	Crop Biotechnology in Developing Countries: A Conceptual Framework for Ex Ante Economic Analyses Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 1998, pp. 24.
No. 4	Sabine Seibel, Romeo Bertolini, Dietrich Müller-Falcke	Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologien in Entwicklungsländern Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 1999, pp. 50.
No. 5	Jean-Jacques Dethier	Governance and Economic Performance: A Survey Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 1999, pp. 62.
No. 6	Mingzhi Sheng	Lebensmittelhandel und Konsumtrends in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 1999, pp. 57.
No. 7	Arjun Bedi	The Role of Information and Communication Technologies in Economic Development – A Partial Survey Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 1999, pp. 42.
No. 8	Abdul Bayes, Joachim von Braun, Rasheda Akhter	Village Pay Phones and Poverty Reduction: Insights from a Grameen Bank Initiative in Bangladesh Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 1999, pp. 47.
No. 9	Johannes Jütting	Strengthening Social Security Systems in Rural Areas of Developing Countries Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 1999, pp. 44.
No. 10	Mamdouh Nasr	Assessing Desertification and Water Harvesting in the Middle East and North Africa: Policy Implications Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 1999, pp. 59.
No. 11	Oded Stark, Yong Wang	Externalities, Human Capital Formation and Corrective Migration Policy Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 17.

No. 12	John Msuya	Nutrition Improvement Projects in Tanzania: Appropriate Choice of Institutions Matters Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 36.
No. 13	Liu Junhai	Legal Reforms in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 90.
No. 14	Lukas Menkhoff	Bad Banking in Thailand? An Empirical Analysis of Macro Indicators Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 38.
No. 15	Kaushalesh Lal	Information Technology and Exports: A Case Study of Indian Garments Manufacturing Enterprises Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 24.
No. 16	Detlef Virchow	Spending on Conservation of Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture: How much and how efficient? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 37.
No. 17	Arnulf Heuermann	Die Bedeutung von Telekommunikationsdiensten für wirtschaftliches Wachstum Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 33.
No. 18	Ulrike Grote, Arnab Basu, Nancy Chau	The International Debate and Economic Consequences of Eco-Labeling Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 37.
No. 19	Manfred Zeller	Towards Enhancing the Role of Microfinance for Safety Nets of the Poor Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 1999, pp. 30.
No. 20	Ajay Mahal, Vivek Srivastava, Deepak Sanan	Decentralization and Public Sector Delivery of Health and Education Services: The Indian Experience Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2000, pp. 77.
No. 21	M. Andreini, N. van de Giesen, A. van Edig, M. Fosu, W. Andah	Volta Basin Water Balance Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 29.
No. 22	Susanna Wolf, Dominik Spoden	Allocation of EU Aid towards ACP-Countries Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 59.

No. 23	Uta Schultze	Insights from Physics into Development Processes: Are Fat Tails Interesting for Development Research? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 21.
No. 24	Joachim von Braun, Ulrike Grote, Johannes Jütting	Zukunft der Entwicklungszusammenarbeit Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 25.
No. 25	Oded Stark, You Qiang Wang	A Theory of Migration as a Response to Relative Deprivation Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 16.
No. 26	Doris Wiesmann, Joachim von Braun, Torsten Feldbrügge	An International Nutrition Index – Successes and Failures in Addressing Hunger and Malnutrition Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2000, pp. 56.
No. 27	Maximo Torero	The Access and Welfare Impacts of Telecommunications Technology in Peru Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2000, pp. 30.
No. 28	Thomas Hartmann- Wendels Lukas Menkhoff	Could Tighter Prudential Regulation Have Saved Thailand's Banks? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 2000, pp. 40.
No. 29	Mahendra Dev	Economic Liberalisation and Employment in South Asia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 82.
No. 30	Noha El-Mikawy, Amr Hashem, Maye Kassem, Ali El-Sawi, Abdel Hafez El-Sawy, Mohamed Showman	Institutional Reform of Economic Legislation in Egypt Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 72.
No. 31	Kakoli Roy, Susanne Ziemek	On the Economics of Volunteering Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 47.
No. 32	Assefa Admassie	The Incidence of Child Labour in Africa with Empirical Evidence from Rural Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 61.
No. 33	Jagdish C. Katyal, Paul L.G. Vlek	Desertification – Concept, Causes and Amelioration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 65.

No. 34	Oded Stark	On a Variation in the Economic Performance of Migrants by their Home Country's Wage Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 10.
No. 35	Ramón Lopéz	Growth, Poverty and Asset Allocation: The Role of the State Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2001, pp. 35.
No. 36	Kazuki Taketoshi	Environmental Pollution and Policies in China's Township and Village Industrial Enterprises Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2001, pp. 37.
No. 37	Noel Gaston, Douglas Nelson	Multinational Location Decisions and the Impact on Labour Markets Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2001, pp. 26.
No. 38	Claudia Ringler	Optimal Water Allocation in the Mekong River Basin Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2001, pp. 50.
No. 39	Ulrike Grote, Stefanie Kirchhoff	Environmental and Food Safety Standards in the Context of Trade Liberalization: Issues and Options Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2001, pp. 43.
No. 40	Renate Schubert, Simon Dietz	Environmental Kuznets Curve, Biodiversity and Sustainability Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2001, pp. 30.
No. 41	Stefanie Kirchhoff, Ana Maria Ibañez	Displacement due to Violence in Colombia: Determinants and Consequences at the Household Level Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2001, pp. 45.
No. 42	Francis Matambalya, Susanna Wolf	The Role of ICT for the Performance of SMEs in East Africa – Empirical Evidence from Kenya and Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2001, pp. 30.
No. 43	Oded Stark, Ita Falk	Dynasties and Destiny: On the Roles of Altruism and Impatience in the Evolution of Consumption and Bequests Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2001, pp. 20.
No. 44	Assefa Admassie	Allocation of Children's Time Endowment between Schooling and Work in Rural Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2002, pp. 75.

No. 45	Andreas Wimmer, Conrad Schetter	Staatsbildung zuerst. Empfehlungen zum Wiederaufbau und zur Befriedung Afghanistans. (German Version) State-Formation First. Recommendations for Reconstruction and Peace-Making in Afghanistan. (English Version) Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2002, pp. 27.
No. 46	Torsten Feldbrügge, Joachim von Braun	Is the World Becoming A More Risky Place? – Trends in Disasters and Vulnerability to Them – Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2002, pp. 42
No. 47	Joachim von Braun, Peter Wobst, Ulrike Grote	"Development Box" and Special and Differential Treatment for Food Security of Developing Countries: Potentials, Limitations and Implementation Issues Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2002, pp. 28
No. 48	Shyamal Chowdhury	Attaining Universal Access: Public-Private Partnership and Business-NGO Partnership Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2002, pp. 37
No. 49	L. Adele Jinadu	Ethnic Conflict & Federalism in Nigeria Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2002, pp. 45
No. 50	Oded Stark, Yong Wang	Overlapping Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2002, pp. 17
No. 51	Roukayatou Zimmermann, Matin Qaim	Projecting the Benefits of Golden Rice in the Philippines Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2002, pp. 33
No. 52	Gautam Hazarika, Arjun S. Bedi	Schooling Costs and Child Labour in Rural Pakistan Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2002, pp. 34
No. 53	Margit Bussmann, Indra de Soysa, John R. Oneal	The Effect of Foreign Investment on Economic Development and Income Inequality Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 35
No. 54	Maximo Torero, Shyamal K. Chowdhury, Virgilio Galdo	Willingness to Pay for the Rural Telephone Service in Bangladesh and Peru Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 39
No. 55	Hans-Dieter Evers, Thomas Menkhoff	Selling Expert Knowledge: The Role of Consultants in Singapore's New Economy Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 29

No. 56	Qiuxia Zhu Stefanie Elbern	Economic Institutional Evolution and Further Needs for Adjustments: Township Village Enterprises in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 2002, pp. 41
No. 57	Ana Devic	Prospects of Multicultural Regionalism As a Democratic Barrier Against Ethnonationalism: The Case of Vojvodina, Serbia's "Multiethnic Haven" Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2002, pp. 29
No. 58	Heidi Wittmer Thomas Berger	Clean Development Mechanism: Neue Potenziale für regenerative Energien? Möglichkeiten und Grenzen einer verstärkten Nutzung von Bioenergieträgern in Entwicklungsländern Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2002, pp. 81
No. 59	Oded Stark	Cooperation and Wealth Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2003, pp. 13
No. 60	Rick Auty	Towards a Resource-Driven Model of Governance: Application to Lower-Income Transition Economies Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 24
No. 61	Andreas Wimmer Indra de Soysa Christian Wagner	Political Science Tools for Assessing Feasibility and Sustainability of Reforms Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 34
No. 62	Peter Wehrheim Doris Wiesmann	Food Security in Transition Countries: Conceptual Issues and Cross-Country Analyses Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 45
No. 63	Rajeev Ahuja Johannes Jütting	Design of Incentives in Community Based Health Insurance Schemes Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 27
No. 64	Sudip Mitra Reiner Wassmann Paul L.G. Vlek	Global Inventory of Wetlands and their Role in the Carbon Cycle Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 44
No. 65	Simon Reich	Power, Institutions and Moral Entrepreneurs Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 46
No. 66	Lukas Menkhoff Chodechai Suwanaporn	The Rationale of Bank Lending in Pre-Crisis Thailand Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 37

No. 67	Ross E. Burkhart Indra de Soysa	Open Borders, Open Regimes? Testing Causal Direction between Globalization and Democracy, 1970–2000 Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 24
No. 68	Arnab K. Basu Nancy H. Chau Ulrike Grote	On Export Rivalry and the Greening of Agriculture – The Role of Eco-labels Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 38
No. 69	Gerd R. Rücker Soojin Park Henry Ssali John Pender	Strategic Targeting of Development Policies to a Complex Region: A GIS-Based Stratification Applied to Uganda Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2003, pp. 41
No. 70	Susanna Wolf	Private Sector Development and Competitiveness in Ghana Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2003, pp. 29
No. 71	Oded Stark	Rethinking the Brain Drain Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2003, pp. 17
No. 72	Andreas Wimmer	Democracy and Ethno-Religious Conflict in Iraq Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2003, pp. 17
No. 73	Oded Stark	Tales of Migration without Wage Differentials: Individual, Family, and Community Contexts Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2003, pp. 15
No. 74	Holger Seebens Peter Wobst	The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2003, pp. 25
No. 75	Benedikt Korf	Ethnicized Entitlements? Property Rights and Civil War in Sri Lanka Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 2003, pp. 26
No. 76	Wolfgang Werner	Toasted Forests – Evergreen Rain Forests of Tropical Asia under Drought Stress Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2003, pp. 46
No. 77	Appukuttannair Damodaran Stefanie Engel	Joint Forest Management in India: Assessment of Performance and Evaluation of Impacts Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2003, pp. 44

No. 78	Eric T. Craswell Ulrike Grote Julio Henao Paul L.G. Vlek	Nutrient Flows in Agricultural Production and International Trade: Ecology and Policy Issues Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 62
No. 79	Richard Pomfret	Resource Abundance, Governance and Economic Performance in Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 20
No. 80	Anil Markandya	Gains of Regional Cooperation: Environmental Problems and Solutions Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 24
No. 81	Akram Esanov, Martin Raiser, Willem Buiter	Gains of Nature's Blessing or Nature's Curse: The Political Economy of Transition in Resource-Based Economies Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 22
No. 82	John M. Msuya Johannes P. Jütting Abay Asfaw	Impacts of Community Health Insurance Schemes on Health Care Provision in Rural Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 26
No. 83	Bernardina Algieri	The Effects of the Dutch Disease in Russia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2004, pp. 41
No. 84	Oded Stark	On the Economics of Refugee Flows Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2004, pp. 8
No. 85	Shyamal K. Chowdhury	Do Democracy and Press Freedom Reduce Corruption? Evidence from a Cross Country Study Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March2004, pp. 33
No. 86	Qiuxia Zhu	The Impact of Rural Enterprises on Household Savings in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2004, pp. 51
No. 87	Abay Asfaw Klaus Frohberg K.S.James Johannes Jütting	Modeling the Impact of Fiscal Decentralization on Health Outcomes: Empirical Evidence from India Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2004, pp. 29

No. 88	Maja B. Micevska Arnab K. Hazra	The Problem of Court Congestion: Evidence from Indian Lower Courts Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 2004, pp. 31
No. 89	Donald Cox Oded Stark	On the Demand for Grandchildren: Tied Transfers and the Demonstration Effect Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2004, pp. 44
No. 90	Stefanie Engel Ramón López	Exploiting Common Resources with Capital-Intensive Technologies: The Role of External Forces Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 2004, pp. 32
No. 91	Hartmut Ihne	Heuristic Considerations on the Typology of Groups and Minorities Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 24
No. 92	Johannes Sauer Klaus Frohberg Heinrich Hockmann	Black-Box Frontiers and Implications for Development Policy – Theoretical Considerations Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 38
No. 93	Hoa Ngyuen Ulrike Grote	Agricultural Policies in Vietnam: Producer Support Estimates, 1986–2002 Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 79
No. 94	Oded Stark You Qiang Wang	Towards a Theory of Self-Segregation as a Response to Relative Deprivation: Steady-State Outcomes and Social Welfare Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2004, pp. 25
No. 95	Oded Stark	Status Aspirations, Wealth Inequality, and Economic Growth Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2005, pp. 9
No. 96	John K. Mduma Peter Wobst	Village Level Labor Market Development in Tanzania: Evidence from Spatial Econometrics Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2005, pp. 42
No. 97	Ramon Lopez Edward B. Barbier	Debt and Growth Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2005, pp. 30
No. 98	Hardwick Tchale Johannes Sauer Peter Wobst	Impact of Alternative Soil Fertility Management Options on Maize Productivity in Malawi's Smallholder Farming System Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn August 2005, pp. 29

No. 99	Steve Boucher Oded Stark J. Edward Taylor	A Gain with a Drain? Evidence from Rural Mexico on the New Economics of the Brain Drain Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2005, pp. 26
No. 100	Jumanne Abdallah Johannes Sauer	Efficiency and Biodiversity – Empirical Evidence from Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn November 2005, pp. 34
No. 101	Tobias Debiel	Dealing with Fragile States – Entry Points and Approaches for Development Cooperation Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2005, pp. 38
No. 102	Sayan Chakrabarty Ulrike Grote Guido Lüchters	The Trade-Off Between Child Labor and Schooling: Influence of Social Labeling NGOs in Nepal Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn February 2006, pp. 35
No. 103	Bhagirath Behera Stefanie Engel	Who Forms Local Institutions? Levels of Household Participation in India's Joint Forest Management Program Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn February 2006, pp. 37
No. 104	Roukayatou Zimmermann Faruk Ahmed	Rice Biotechnology and Its Potential to Combat Vitamin A Deficiency: A Case Study of Golden Rice in Bangladesh Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2006, pp. 31
No. 105	Adama Konseiga	Household Migration Decisions as Survival Strategy: The Case of Burkina Faso Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 36
No. 106	Ulrike Grote Stefanie Engel Benjamin Schraven	Migration due to the Tsunami in Sri Lanka – Analyzing Vulnerability and Migration at the Household Level Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 37
No. 107	Stefan Blum	East Africa: Cycles of Violence, and the Paradox of Peace Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 42
No. 108	Ahmed Farouk Ghoneim Ulrike Grote	Impact of Labor Standards on Egyptian Exports with Special Emphasis on Child Labor Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2006, pp. 50
No. 109	Oded Stark	Work Effort, Moderation in Expulsion, and Illegal Migration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn May 2006, pp. 11

No. 110	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	International Migration and "Educated Unemployment" Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2006, pp. 19
No. 111	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	A Reluctance to Assimilate Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2006, pp. 12
No. 112	Martin Worbes Evgeniy Botman Asia Khamzina Alexander Tupitsa Christopher Martius John P.A. Lamers	Scope and Constraints for Tree Planting in the Irrigated Landscapes of the Aral Sea Basin: Case Studies in Khorezm Region, Uzbekistan Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2006, pp. 49
No. 113	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	The Analytics of Seasonal Migration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2007, pp. 16
No. 114	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	The Brain Drain, "Educated Unemployment," Human Capital Formation, and Economic Betterment Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn July 2007, pp. 36
No. 115	Franz Gatzweiler Anke Reichhuber Lars Hein	Why Financial Incentives Can Destroy Economically Valuable Biodiversity in Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn August 2007, pp. 14
No. 116	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	Losses and Gains to Developing Countries from the Migration of Educated Workers: An Overview of Recent Research, and New Reflections Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn August 2007, pp. 14
No. 117	Aimée Hampel-Milagrosa	Social Capital, Ethnicity and Decision-Making in the Philippine Vegetable Market Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn September 2007, pp. 74
No. 118	Oded Stark C. Simon Fan	Rural-to-Urban Migration, Human Capital, and Agglomeration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2007, pp. 25
No. 119	Arnab K. Basu Matin Qaim	Pricing, Distribution and Adoption of Genetically Modified Seeds under Alternative Information Regimes Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2007, pp. 32
No. 120	Oded Stark Doris A. Behrens Yong Wang	On the Evolutionary Edge of Migration as an Assortative Mating Device Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn February 2008, pp. 19

No. 121	Nancy H. Chau Rolf Färe	Shadow Pricing Market Access: A Trade Benefit Function Approach Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn January 2008, pp. 42
No. 122	Nicolas Gerber	Bioenergy and Rural development in developing Countries: a Review of Exsiting Studies Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2008, pp. 58
No. 123	Seid Nuru Holger Seebens	The Impact of Location on Crop Choice and Rural Livelihood: Evidences from Villages in Northern Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn July 2008, pp. 27
No. 124	Anik Bhaduri, Nicostrato Perez and Jens Liebe	Scope and Sustainability of Cooperation in Transboundary Water Sharing of the Volta River Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn September 2008, pp. 28
No. 125	Arnab K. Basu and Robert L. Hicks	Label Performance and the Willingness to Pay for Fair Trade Coffee: A Cross-National Perspective Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2008, pp. 22
No. 126	Prof. Dr. habil. Michael Bohnet	Chinas langer Marsch zur Umweltrevolution Umweltprobleme und Umweltpolitik der Chinesischen Volksrepublik Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2008, pp. 22
No. 127	Nicolas Gerber Manfred van Eckert Thomas Breuer	The Impacts of Biofuel Production on Food Prices: a review Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn December 2008, pp.19
No. 128	Oded Stark and Doris A. Behrens	An Evolutionary Edge of Knowing Less (or: On the "Curse" of Global Information) Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn March 2009, pp.21
No. 129	Daniel W. Tsegai, Teresa Linz, Julia Kloos	Economic analysis of water supply cost structure in the Middle Olifants sub-basin of South Africa Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2009, pp.20
No. 130	Teresa Linz, Daniel W. Tsegai	Industrial Water Demand analysis in the Middle Olifants sub-basin of South Africa: The case of Mining Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn April 2009, pp.27

No. 131	Julia Kloos Daniel W. Tsegai	Preferences for domestic water services in the Middle Olifants sub-basin of South Africa Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn May 2009, pp.23
No. 132	Anik Bhaduri Utpal Manna Edward Barbier Jens Liebe	Cooperation in Transboundary Water Sharing under Climate Change Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2009, pp. 33
No. 133	Nicolas Gerber	Measuring Biodiversity – an axiomatic evaluation of measures based on genetic data Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn June 2009, pp. 26

#### ISSN: 1436-9931

The papers can be ordered free of charge from: Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF) Center for Development Research Walter-Flex-Str. 3 D – 53113 Bonn, Germany

Phone: +49-228-73-1861 Fax: +49-228-73-1869 E-Mail: zef@uni-bonn.de http://www.zef.de